
                                  

AGENDA

For a meeting of the
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

to be held on
WEDNESDAY, 20 JUNE 2018

at
10.30 AM

in the
TRAINING ROOM, MOWBECK HOUSE, ALEXANDRA ROAD, 

GRANTHAM.  NG31 7AW
Aidan Rave, Chief Executive    

Chairman
Councillor Mike Exton

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Nick Craft
Councillor Bob Russell

Councillor Brian Sumner
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew 
(Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Martin Wilkins

Invited Cabinet Members
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley Cabinet Member for Environment 

Support Officer: Lucy Bonshor Tel: 01476 40 61 20
E-mail: l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk 

PLEASE NOTE CHANGE OF VENUE 

Members of the Committee are invited to attend the above meeting to consider 
the items of business listed below.

1  COMMENTS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 
discretion.

2  MEMBERSHIP 

The committee to be notified of any substitute members.

3  APOLOGIES 

4  DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

mailto:l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk


5  ACTION NOTES FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 24TH APRIL 2018 (Pages 3 - 9)

(Enclosure)

6  UPDATES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

7  GROUNDS MAINTENANCE SERVICE - DELIVERY MODEL REVIEW 
(Pages 10 - 18)

Report ENV696 from the Cabinet Member for Environment.
(Enclosure)

8  WORK PLAN FOR FOOD AND HEALTH & SAFETY ENFORCEMENT  2018/19 
(Pages 19 - 44)

Report ENV695 from the Cabinet Member for Environment.
(Enclosure)

9  DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 45 - 47)

(Enclosure)

10  ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF SPECIAL 
CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT 



MEETING OF THE
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

TUESDAY, 24 APRIL 2018, 
10.30 AM

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Lynda Coutts
Councillor Nick Craft
Councillor Mike Exton (Chairman)

Councillor Bob Russell (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Brian Sumner
Councillor Martin Wilkins

CABINET MEMBERS

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley (Cabinet Member for Environment)

OFFICERS

Strategic Director Environment and Property (Tracey Blackwell)
Assistant Director Environment (Ian Yates)
Service Manager Venues and Town Centre Management (Paul Stokes)
Team Leader Operations (Mike Smith)
Premise and Facilities Co-ordinator (Carolyn Baker)
Service Manager Street Care Services (Keith Rowe)
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor)

47. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

None disclosed.

48. ACTION NOTES FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 20 FEBRUARY 2018

The action notes from the meeting held on 20 February 2018 were noted. 
Councillor Craft asked that his reasons for leaving the meeting included that he 
thought the meeting was an absolute farce.

Page - 3

Agenda Item 5



49. UPDATES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING

Cycle to work figures had been circulated to Members as requested but it was 
noted that these were not particularly detailed.   It was suggested that the 
Member speak to officers outside the meeting about the type of information he 
required.

The Cabinet Member for Environment informed the Committee that he had 
taken their recommendation on the Enviro Crime penalty fees to the Cabinet 
meeting.  However, the Cabinet had decided to agree the £100 fine for fly 
tipping rather than the maximum put forward by the Government and agreed by 
the Committee, this would be reviewed during the year. It was a balance 
between affordability and the percentage recovery of costs. 

50. STREET LIGHTING

The report circulated with the agenda (FM0013) was based on the findings of 
the two working groups that had been held by the Committee.  The 
recommendation was based on the decision made by the last working group to 
proceed with Option E which was appended to the report. Also attached to the 
report was a draft Street Lighting Policy for adoption.

Reference was made to the Policy document appended to the report.  A 
Member had compiled a slightly amended policy document which he circulated 
at the meeting. 

It was confirmed that the amendments did not alter the content of the main 
document other than to “fine tune” it.

One Member felt that the recommendation needed to have more emphasis that 
the street lights were not being turned off and he proposed that the words i.e. to 
keep the lights on should be included in the recommendation.   A short 
discussion followed about including the wording but it was stressed that this 
was down as an objective of the policy.  A further proposal was put forward that 
the recommendation be split into three parts - 1) to maintain street lights during 
the hours of darkness, 2) to adopt the policy and 3) the recommendation 
contained within the report. Further discussion followed on whether wording 
needed to be added.  The policy that had been circulated at the meeting was 
proposed, seconded and agreed together with the recommendation contained 
within the report with the additional wording.

Recommendation:

That the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to 
Cabinet that Option E (to keep the lights on) as appended to report 
FM0013 is approved (to replace existing lamps with LED as and when the 

Page - 4



light reaches the end of life). That the current budget savings regarding 
street lighting is used to accelerate a complete re-lamping process and 
that the policy outlined below is adopted.

Overview

The purpose of this policy is to ensure effective management of the 
Council’s street lighting stock in order that the lighting is:

a) Providing illumination when and where it is required;
b) Safe
c) Energy efficient
d) Well-maintained.

Objectives
1) Ensure existing lighting stock is maintained in accordance with 

current electrical regulations to ensure it meets legal, health and 
safety requirements

2) To follow good practice guidance, in order to further reduce risk to 
council staff, contractors and the public.

3) To ensure SKDC streetlights provide illumination during the hours 
of darkness.

Strategy

1) To maintain and update a register or SKDC streetlights including: 
location; purpose; condition; and lamp-type.

2) To ensure streetlights are properly maintained.
3) To replace streetlights with more energy efficient units (e.g. LEDs) 

when existing lamps cease to function and/or when budget 
becomes available.

4) To identify any SKDC streetlights which might be considered 
redundant and to consider their removal.

5) To maintain the council’s portfolio of street lighting via appropriate 
contract(s).

51. JOINT MUNICIPAL WASTE STRATEGY

The Chairman welcomed Lincolnshire County Councillor Eddie Poll, Chairman 
of the Joint Municipal Waste Partnership and Matthew Mitchell from 
Lincolnshire County Council to the meeting.  A presentation was given to 
Members about the draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
(JMWMS) for Lincolnshire which was out for consultation.   The draft strategy 
set out how the eight local authorities in Lincolnshire and the Environment 
Agency would be working in partnership to deliver sustainable waste 
management services and deliver best value for money.

One of the key strategic drivers was the increase in waste growth.  Statistics 

Page - 5



indicated that a quarter of what is collected in kerbside recycling collections is 
not recyclable, and a quarter of general waste kerbside collections should be in 
recycling collections. Other drivers included Brexit, the 25 year Environment 
Plan, Defra resources and waste strategy and the changes to the Chinese 
recycling market.

The vision of the JMWMS was:

”To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, 
customer-friendly waste management solutions that give value 
for money for Lincolnshire”.

At a meeting of the JMWMS last July 10 objectives were put in place to 
be achieved through the Strategy:

1. To improve the quality and therefore commercial value of our 
recycling stream.

2. To consider moving towards a common set of recycling 
materials.

3. To consider the introduction of separate food waste collections.
4. To explore new opportunities of using all waste as a resource in 

accordance with the waste hierarchy.
5. To contribute to the UK recycling target of 50% by 2020.
6. To find the most appropriate ways to measure our environmental
7. To seek to reduce our carbon footprint.
8. To make an objective assessment of whether further residual 

waste recovery/disposal capacity is required and, if necessary, 
seek to secure appropriate capacity.

9. To regularly review the LWP governance model in order to 
provide the best opportunity to bring closer integration and the 
implementation of the objectives set by the strategy.

10.To consider appropriate innovative solutions in the delivery of our 
waste management services. 

The draft strategy also included key legislation, an assessment of 
current services, themes for actions to achieve the objectives and what 
happened beyond the adoption of the strategy.

The draft strategy was a 70 page document and was out for a three 
month consultation with both elected Members, the wider public, parish 
councils, businesses and neighbouring authorities.  A summary of the 
strategy document was also available. The consultation was mainly 
online but there was a facility for paper copies and a freepost address 
was included.   The draft strategy would be revised following feedback 
from the consultation process and this would then be considered for 
approval and adoption by each of the eight authorities the target 
timeframe was by the end of 2018. Beyond the strategy an action plan 
would be in place which would be reviewed annually. 

Page - 6



As the consultation period had already commenced early feedback had 
already been received and themes were already starting to become 
apparent and included business producing products with less 
packaging, lobbying Government to make legislation with regard to 
packaging in general and also economy verses the environment.  Other 
themes included what was collected, with a simpler collection system 
being put in place and a co-ordinated communication campaign.  

Responses to the consultation could be made both individually and 
corporately and it was essential that all partners were involved.

Members discussed the presentation and the following issues were 
raised:
- Education in schools – children were the next generation – it was 

felt that this should be a separate part within the strategy
- The food waste trials currently taking place in the district
- Changes to what was collected and how this was done – making it 

simpler 
- It was felt that communication was a key issue  
- The possible inclusion of volunteers as recycling champions
- Promoting home composting 
- Plastic bottle banks 
- Bin contamination - currently bin contamination in SKDC was at 

33% - additional costs were incurred because of this
- Action taken against persistent bin contamination offenders 
- Recognition that the best environmental options were not the 

cheapest
- Promoting zero landfill waste as an option – circular economy
- Different collection methodology between districts
- Cross contamination and costs
- Mobile recycling exhibition to go to local fetes, fairs etc 
- Residual waste streams
- Failing recycling rates nationally
- Pay as you throw
- Waste recycling facilities

Councillor Poll and Matthew Mitchell were thanked for the presentation 
and their time spent debating the topic.

In order to compile a corporate response to the draft strategy it was 
agreed to convene an all Member workshop early in June 2018.

 Action Note

That an all Member workshop be convened to compile a response 
to the draft JMWMS Strategy document on behalf of the Council.

Page - 7



52. REFUSE COLLECTION - MISSED BINS EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Members were circulated with an extract from the Internal Audit Progress 
Report.  The Executive summary report dealt with missed bins. The item was 
for Members information only.  

The Cabinet Member for Environment informed the Committee that he had 
requested the report six to eight months ago as a lot of local authorities had 
contracted their waste service out and there had been reports in the media 
about the level of missed bin collections. He wanted assurances that our in 
house service was performing effectively.

The level of missed bins was at an acceptable level. It was stressed that a 
rejected bin was not the same as a missed bin. A question was asked about 
the number of rejected bins and the Service Manager for Street Care Services 
informed Members that he would circulate the figures after the meeting as he 
did not have them to hand.

 Action Note:

That the figure for the number of rejected bins be circulated to Members.

53. TRADE WASTE

The service was being accepted widely and currently there were 113 paying 
customers.   As current contracts with suppliers ended this figure was set to 
rise.

54. GROUNDS MAINTENANCE

A Member referenced the recommendation made by the Committee at its 
December meeting to extend the current Ground Maintenance contract for a 12 
month period with a review of the contract to take place in six months.   He felt 
that there was an opportunity to take account of a wide range of issues such as 
biodiversity as part of the review process. 

Ground maintenance was scheduled to be considered by the Committee at the 
next meeting.
 

55. FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME

A copy of the work programme had been appended to the agenda. It showed 
items that the Committee had discussed during the year and possible future 
items for discussion including food inspection, CCTV and ground maintenance.

Notice of items for inclusion in the plan should give enough time to enable the 

Page - 8



necessary resources to be allocated.  Ad hoc items may need to be added to 
the programme if necessary; for example consultation documents.

It was suggested that biodiversity be added as a future work plan item together 
with pedestrian cycleways.  It was noted that pedestrian cycleways was a cross 
portfolio issue with Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

The Parliamentary report on the Effectiveness of Local Authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees was suggested for review by a joint Committee of all the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees with the Chief Executive to be invited to 
give his views.

The Cabinet Member for Environment felt that the Committee had grown over 
the year into a strong and powerful role and he hoped that going forward more 
policies would be developed.

56. CLOSE OF MEETING

Meeting closed at 12:24pm.

Page - 9



 

 

 
 
 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

Cabinet Member for Environment 
 

 

Report to: 
 
Date: 
 
Subject: 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
20th June 2018 
 
Report ENV 696 Grounds Maintenance Service – 
Delivery Model Review 

 

Decision 
Proposal: 

Key Decision 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member: 

 

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley Cabinet Member for Environment 
 

 
Report author: 
 
 
 
Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
Signed off by: 
 
 
 
Approved for 
publication 

 
Keith Rowe – Head of Street Scene 
Tel: 01476 406370  E-mail: k.rowe@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 4th June 2018 
 
Ian Yates – Assistant Director, Commercial and Operational 
Tel: 01476 406201  E-mail: i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 5th June 2018 
 
Tracey Blackwell – Strategic Advisor - Housing Led Regeneration 
Tel: 01476 403058 E-mail: t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 6th June 2018 
 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Environment 
Date: 8th June 2018 
 
 

 

SUMMARY 
The Grounds Maintenance Service is currently provided through a contract with Glendale 
Grounds Management Limited (“Glendale”) which expires February 2019. The contract 
covers grounds maintenance services for all the District Council owned parks, gardens, 
public amenity grass areas and the Council’s housing related stock. 
The Council has the opportunity to review and consider the options available as to how it 
provides the service in the future. It can continue to procure the service through a 
competitive process with external providers or it could consider delivering the service 
directly. 

Page - 10

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
This report sets out the key options and suggests a framework by which the different 
options can be evaluated in order for the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to make a recommendation. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
That Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee consider the options available for 
the provision of the Councils Grounds Maintenance service and recommend to the 
Cabinet Member for Environment their preferred option. 
 
 

 
 
 
1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT 
 

1.1 The existing contract with Glendale started 1st March 2014  and the contract 
provides for the following grounds maintenance and service activities:- 
 

 All formal public spaces, parks, cemetery, sports pitches and playing 
fields 

 All closed churchyards and amenity grassed areas on open spaces 

 Attendance duties and marking out of sports facilities/playing pitches 

 Tree maintenance, general responsive and emergency works 

 Weed control on Council owned sites 

 Maintenance of Council owned housing estates and supported council 
house gardens 

 Winter salting of car parks and supported housing schemes 
 
 
1.2 The service performance in previous years has generally been satisfactory with 

no significant user complaints. However, recently there has been a number of 
instances where the quality of work has not been to the standard required. The 
work in the Council’s parks has been to a high standard and Glendale has been 
a good partner working with the Council by providing additional assistance such 
as attendance at Wyndham Park Forum meetings, voluntarily raising the 
seasonal planting specifications and the employment of one apprentice. The 
Green Flag status awarded to Wyndham Park demonstrates the Council’s 
commitment to achieving high standards. 
 

1.3 Expenditure on the Grounds Maintenance Services is significant with an annual 
investment of approximately £1m over the last 4 years for General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Account services. Approximately one third of the expenditure 
on the Housing Revenue Account and two thirds on the General Fund. 
 

1.4 A review of the services provided and the contract specification will be 
undertaken with input from the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
at a later meeting. 

 
    

Page - 11



 

 

2. OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1 Whilst the service has been externalised at South Kesteven since 1989, 
consideration should be given to all options available to the Council for the 
future delivery of the service. The Council’s new Corporate Strategy has 
commercialism as one of its core building blocks. Making the most of our 
assets and knowledge to generate income is now an important factor. Likewise 
being flexible and agile are key to our future plans. The options available to 
deliver the service are:- 

 
 
 

1. Contract out the service through competitive tender 
This would continue with the process of producing a specification and 
associated contract documents against which suitable contractors 
would be invited to bid against.  
 
 

2. In-source the service utilising directly employed Council 
employees and Council owned equipment 
The Council would directly manage the service. Employing its own 
workforce and investing in its own plant and equipment. Under the 
Transfer of Undertakings Protection of Employment (TUPE) rules, 
those currently employed by the provider to deliver the service would 
be transferred on their existing terms and conditions. 
 
 

3. Deliver it through a SKDC Local Authority Controlled Company 
(LACC) 
The service would be provided by employees and equipment through 
a new company owned by the Council. This arrangement would 
enable the Council to exploit the commercial opportunity making the 
most of our assets and knowledge.  
 
 

4. Deliver through an established Local Authority Company (LACC) 
The service would be through a joint venture agreement with an 
already established joint venture company. This arrangement has the 
ability to share a commercial profit. 

 
2.2  Evaluation Model 

In order to evaluate the delivery options a range of objectives for the service 
have been identified. These are:- 
 

 Cost 
What is the cost to the Council? 

 Flexibility and responsiveness 
How easy is it to change the service and how quickly? 

 Income generation 
Ability to generate new income streams? 

 Quality of service and performance 
What standards of service will be delivered through the seasons? 

Page - 12



 

 

 
  
2.3 The evaluation model is detailed in Appendix 1. Weightings have been applied 

to each of the objectives (by relative importance) and each option scored, 
resulting in a final weighted score for each delivery option. This is a subjective 
evaluation method, supported by explanatory notes for each criteria scored. 

 
2.4 The diagram below shows the results of that evaluation as currently scored. 

 
 
 
2.5 Whilst this is a subjective evaluation with numerous influencing factors, the 

suggested evaluation model should enable debate and assist Members in their 
considerations. 

 
2.6 Due Diligence 
 A range factors have been considered in detail in order to ensure that the 

evaluation is based on sound information if available. These are:- 
 
 Costs – revenue and capital expenditure required including premises 
 Employee liabilities – transfer of employees from existing arrangements 
 Knowledge and expertise required to deliver the service   
 
 
 
 

1 - Contract out

2 - In-source

3 - SKDC LACC

4 - Third party LACC

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Cost Flexibility Income Quality

1 - Contract out 40 9 25 18

2 - In-source 40 24 25 21

3 - SKDC LACC 45 24 40 24

4 - Third party LACC 35 15 30 18
D

e
liv

e
ry

 O
p

ti
o

n
s

W
e

ig
h

te
d

 S
co

re

Attributes

Grounds Maintenance - Delivery Option Appraisal Results

Page - 13



 

 

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 

3.1 The resource implications for each option have been considered as part of the 
evaluation model. The revenue and capital costs vary depending on the option 
chosen. Significant capital investment would be required for options 2 and 3. 
Revenue costs for option 1 will be market dependant. An evaluation of revenue 
costs for options 2 and 3 has been undertaken.  

 

3.2 Management expertise and knowledge will be required for all options with existing 
workforce currently delivering the service transferring to any future employer. In 
house expertise is available to support all options. 

 

 
4. RISK AND MITIGATION  
 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 

etc.) 
 
5.1 This proposal does not require an impact assessment. 
  
6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
  
6.1 None. 
  
7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES 
 
7.1 A financial review of the different options described in the report has been 

undertaken which concludes there are little cost differences in each of the 
options based on the information available.  A company model would allow the 

Category Risk Action / Controls 
Increased financial costs. 
This applies to all the options 
being considered. The recent 
one year extension resulted in 
a 4% uplift. 

Ensure all options costed and budget for. 
Produce a specification that allows and 
encourages efficiencies. 

Increased employee liabilities.  
This applies to the insourcing 
option as employee conditions 
would potentially increase if not 
employed through a company 
arrangement. 

The form of delivery model chosen will 
mitigate future changes and resulting cost 
pressures. 
All employees if transferring will be 
protected on their current terms and 
conditions by law on transfer. 

Ability to act commercially. 
Contracting out severely 
reduces our ability to generate 
additional income or profits. 

The form of delivery model will have the 
main impact on this factor. 
Contracts to be designed to incentivise an 
income share arrangement. 

Expertise lost on transfer. 
This could occur if existing 
employees do not transfer to a 
new provider. 

Communication with existing employees in 
all cases will be key to supporting current 
staff delivering the service in a period of 
change. 

Page - 14



 

 

company to trade and operate commercially which is not permissible if the 
service were to be brought in house and managed by the Council directly.  A 
company model would require legislative governance and an operating model 
that demonstrates commercial characteristics but having regard to the taxation 
implications.  Depending on the model to be developed then a Teckal 
exemption may be appropriate which would exempt the company from specific 
procurement activities.  In this respect further work is required to fully evaluate 
the financial implications of a company delivery model. 

 
8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

8.1 Each of the delivery models proposed require the consideration of legal 
requirements.  

8.2 S.1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides the power for local authorities to do 
anything that individuals generally may do. All the options may be possible in 
accordance with the Localism Act unless any proposal is specifically prohibited 
by legislation. It allows for commercial activities to be undertaken provided they 
are done through a company. 

8.3 As the current service provision is provided through an external contractor, the 
Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 1981 (TUPE) 
may apply and will have to be taken into account should any of the proposed 
options be recommended. TUPE regulations have the effect that: 

 employees employed by the previous employer when the undertaking 
changes hands automatically become employees of the new employer 
on the same terms and conditions. It is as if their contracts of 
employment had originally been made with the new employer. Thus 
employees’ continuity of employment is preserved, as are their terms 
and conditions of employment under their contracts of employment 
(except for certain occupational pension rights) 

 representatives of employees affected have a right to be informed about 
the transfer. They must also be consulted about any measures which the 
old or new employer envisages taking concerning affected employees. 

8.4 Any procurement of services from another organisation must be done in 
accordance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (2015 Regulations) and 
the Council’s Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules. The Teckal 
exemption referred to in the Finance comments was confirmed in the 2015 
Regulations (Regulation 12). This provides an exemption from the 2015 
Regulations where the contracting authority has sufficient control of a separate 
entity established to provide the service which carries out at least 80% of its 
activities for the owner authority. The criteria for the application of the 
exemption should be considered if the formation of a company is to be 
recommended. 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES  

9.1 None. 
 
10.  APPENDICES 
 
10.1 Appendix 1 Evaluation Model. 

Page - 15



 

 

  
11.  BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
11.1 None. 

Page - 16



Appendix 1 – Evaluation Model

Grounds Maintenance Service - Delivery Model Review

Draft Outcomes:

 Cost - What is the cost to the Council?
 Flexibility and responsiveness – How easy is it to change the service and how quickly?
 Income generation – ability to generate new income streams? 
 Quality of service and performance - What standards of service will be delivered? 

Outcome Weighting  
1 is low  - 5 
is high – 
relative 
importance

Option 1 – Contract out Score  
( 1 is 
poor 
- 10  
is 
good)

Weighted 
Score 

Option 2 – In-source Score 
( 1 is 
poor 
10 is 
good)

Weighted 
Score 

Option 3  - Transfer to SKDC LACC 
(Teckal)

Score 
( 1 is 
poor 
10 is 
good)

Weighted 
score 

Option 4 – Joint Venture 
partnership with established 
LACC

Score
( 1 is 
poor 
10 is 
good)

Weighted 
score

Cost 5 Recent experience demonstrates 
that there is a competitive market 
for private providers

Contractor takes profit  from 
overall activity

Larger providers likely to benefit 
from larger scale equipment 
purchases which should be 
reflected in contract costs

Procurement cost of contracting 
out – estimated £70-90k

Client management role would 
require further investment

8 40 Employee costs 
would remain the 
same initially 
however subject  to 
increase due to 
staff turnover and 
the impact of local 
government T ‘s 
and C’s

Complete 
transparency over 
costs

No profit margin 
required

Public sector 
framework 
agreements 
provide similar 
scale of economy 
benefits 

Set up costs - £20-
30k

Capital investment 
required

8 40 Transfer under TUPE into new 
company – T & Cs will remain the 
same as previous employment

Transparency over costs via 
governance arrangements

Profit generation for re-
investment into the service 

Public sector framework 
agreements provide similar scale 
of economy benefits 

Set up costs £50-70k

Capital investment required

9 45 Employee costs could 
remain the same initially 
however might be subject  
to increase due to staff 
turnover and the impact of 
local government T ‘s and 
C’s

Some transparency over 
costs 

Contribution to external 
support costs likely 

No procurement process 
required – just negotiation

Guarantees over cost of 
the contract – partner 
takes the risk

Agree efficiency targets 
during negotiation

Set up costs – legal advice  
£50 -60k

Light touch client side 
arrangements 

7 35

Flexibility and 
responsiveness

3 Less flexible than other options 
because contractual arrangements. 

3 9 Full influence  and 
control available as 
the service would 
be managed in the 
same way as waste 

8 24 Extensive influence  and control 
available as the service would be 
managed in a similar way as 
waste collection or street 
cleaning teams currently

8 24 Service level agreements 
would be in place  but 
could be varied by 
agreement

5 15

P
age - 17



Changes lead to additional 
transactional costs  - usually 
increasing costs to both parties

Bureaucratic  processes  -time 
consuming

collection or street 
cleaning teams

Ability to respond 
quickly and redirect 
resources if 
required

Ability to respond quickly and 
redirect resources if required

Public sector ethos as 
parent company would be 
a local authority 

Could work for other public 
sector organisations 
without competing – at the 
margin.

Income 
generation

5 Could be specified but profits 
would be shared with contractor

Commercial experience available

5 25 Could work for 
other public sector 
organisations but 
not through 
commercial models

5 25 Could work for public sector 
organisations without having to 
compete 

Commercial trading available 
within  constraints of Teckal 
exemption

8 40 New income could be 
delivered through 
commercial activity 

Examples exist which are 
based on the partner 
creating a new commercial 
offer locally and sharing 
profits with the Council

Teckal constraints apply 

6 30

Quality of 
service and 
performance

3 Profit margins could dictate the 
extent to which a private sector 
provider would accommodate 
volatility in service demand over 
time. 

Short term contracts could prevent 
longer term investment from the 
private partner
 

Additional client management 
costs to manage performance 

6 18 Flexibility to re-
direct resources  
from different 
service teams to 
optimize quality 
outcomes

Ability to align litter 
picking with grass 
cutting activity

7 21 Potential to allocate additional 
resources through use of 
headroom
Created by commercial activity

No private sector profit losses

Establish quality measures

8 24 Quality should be specified 
in service  level agreement 
(SLA)

No private sector profit 
targets

Agree quality measures in 
SLA

6 18

Total score 92 110 133 98

P
age - 18



ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment 

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

19 June 2018 

Report No. ENV695
Work Plan for Food and Health & Safety Enforcement  
2018/19

Decision
Proposal: Non Key Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental
Tel:  01476 406319   E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 31 May 2018

Ian Yates, Assistant Director, Commercial and Operational
Tel:  01476 406201  E-mail: i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 4 June 2018 

Tracey Blackwell, Strategic Advisor, Housing Led Regeneration 
Tel:  01476 406058  E-mail: t.blackwell@southeksteven.gov.uk 
Date: 5 June 2018

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Date: 6 June 2018 

SUMMARY

Local authorities are required to produce a publicly available plan which sets out how and 
at what level official food controls will be provided, in accordance with codes of practice.   
The Food Standards Agency details the minimum information to be contained in the plan. 
The South Kesteven draft work plan fulfils these requirements. 
  

Page - 19

Agenda Item 8

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:t.blackwell@southeksteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that:

Subject to any comments, the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
recommend to the Cabinet Member for Environment that the Work Plan for Food and 
Health and Safety Enforcement for 2018/19 is approved. 

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) requires each Local Authority to produce an 
annual Food Work Plan in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Agency’s 
Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food Law Enforcement.  This 
document dictates the structure and content of the work plan. 

1.2 The FSA use the information contained in the plan to assess the Council’s 
delivery of the service and compare performance against other authorities. The 
FSA has powers to take over the management of the food service from local 
authorities who fail to meet performance standards.

1.3 The Work Plan is predominantly produced to satisfy the requirements of the FSA, 
but also demonstrates how the Council will comply with the Health and Safety 
Executive (HSE) National Local Authority Enforcement Code and incorporates 
work undertaken on other associated activities, including infectious disease 
control and regulation of private water supplies. 

1.4 The draft Work Plan for Food and Health & Safety Enforcement is at Appendix 1. 

2. FOOD BUSINESSES IN SOUTH KESTEVEN 

2.1 Food businesses are categorised according to FSAs requirements. The number 
of food businesses in South Kesteven has remained relativity static, altering by 
less than 1% over the last 3 years. Currently, 1358 food business are registered 
in the District.

2.2 The profile of food businesses in South Kesteven, compared to the national 
profile across England is detailed below.

Food Premises Type No. 
England

% 
England

No. 
SKDC

% 
SKDC

Primary producers 3,507 0.7 23 1.7
Manufacturers and packers 14,722 2.8 38 2.8
Importers and exporters 1,322 0.3 4 0.3
Distributors and transporters 8,384 1.6 44 3.2
Retailers 113,394 21.9 265 19.5
Restaurants and caterers 376,347 72.6 984 72.5

Total 517,686 1358

Page - 20



2.3 The frequency of food hygiene inspections and interventions is determined by an 
assessment of a number of elements which produces a score.  These include; 
current compliance, confidence in management, the type of food and processing, 
the number of consumers potentially at risk and risk of contamination.  The higher 
the overall score given to the business, the greater the frequency of intervention.  
Category A businesses pose the highest risk and are subject to 6 monthly 
interventions through to category E which pose the lowest risk and are subject to 
interventions every 3 years.  Some food business are outside the scheme as any 
food provision is incidental to the main activity and is very low risk.

2.4 A breakdown of the inspection frequency for businesses by type currently 
included in the scheme in South Kesteven is provided below.

Risk Category 
& Intervention 
Frequency

Primary 
Producers
%

Manufacturers 
& Packers
%

Importers & 
Exporters
%

Distributors 
& 
Transporters
%

Retailers
%

Restaurants 
& Caterers
%

A (6 months) 0 0 0 0 0 0.5
B (12 months) 0 4.5 0 0 0.5 2.5
C (18 months) 0 11.5 0 4 8 20
D (24 months) 0 26 0 13 19 42
E (3 years) 100 58 100 83 72.5 35

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

3. FOOD HYGIENE IN SOUTH KESTEVEN

3.1 While a range of food businesses are inspected, those which supply food directly 
to the consumer e.g. restaurants, takeaways, cafés, sandwich shops, pubs, 
hotels, supermarkets and other retail outlets are given a rating under the FSA’s 
Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS).   The primary aim of the scheme is to 
improve public health protection and reduce the incidence of food borne illness, 
however, it also helps residents and visitors to make informed choices and has 
the potential to improve standards, drive business competition and growth.  Of 
the 1358 food businesses that are registered, 982 are included in the FHRS.

3.2 The rating given ranges from ‘0’ at the bottom (urgent improvement necessary) 
to ‘5’ at the top (very good).  A new rating is given each time a business is 
inspected to check their compliance with food hygiene law.  The inspection 
frequency is risk based and varies from six months for the highest risk business 
to two years for lower risk businesses. For some very low risk businesses, the 
interval between inspections may be greater than this.  This means that efforts 
can be focused on those businesses with poorer standards or which represent 
the greatest risk to people’s health

3.3 Food businesses in South Kesteven generally perform well, with 98.5% of rated 
business considered ‘generally satisfactory’, ‘good’ or ‘very good’ (equivalent to 
ratings of 3, 4 or 5).  This has increased from 91% in 2012/13 and compares to 
94.4% nationally.  At the lower end of the food hygiene compliance scale, the 
proportion of rated food establishments which required ‘urgent’ or ‘major 
improvement’ (equivalent to ratings of 0 or 1) was less than 1%, compared to 
3.5% nationally.

Page - 21



4. HEALTH AND SAFETY IN SOUTH KESTEVEN

4.1 The Council is responsible for enforcing health and safety in approximately 2300 
premises across the district, ranging from shops and offices to warehouses. The 
HSE monitors and directs the approach of local authorities, ensuring that all 
interventions are targeted.  In practice, this comprises programmed inspections 
of the highest risk workplaces in addition to interventions in response to reported 
accidents, complaints, dangerous occurrences and work-related diseases.

5. REGULATING OUR FUTURE PROGRAMME 

5.1 The FSA intends to change its approach to regulating the food industry.  This will 
have future implications for the delivery of the service as it is expected that there 
will be a different balance of activities at local authority level which should allow 
officers to focus on the poorest performing businesses.  The changes are 
expected to come fully into effect from 2020 and include:

 An enhanced system of registration for food businesses
 Segmentation of businesses, allowing proportionate decisions to be make 

about inspection and assurance regimes
 Assurance models for businesses to prove they are compliant
 Mandatory display of food hygiene ratings in England 

6. FOCUS AREAS FOR 2018/19

6.1 Key elements of the plan for 2018/19 in addition to programmed inspections 
include:

 Establishing a range of chargeable (on a cost recovery basis) services to help 
businesses start up, grow and to improve their food hygiene ratings

 Recovering costs of services where permitted e.g. FHRS rescore visits
 Encouraging businesses to promote their healthier eating options, providing 

customers with informed choices
 Implementing elements of the Regulating our Future programme as directed 

by the FSA.

7. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 The FSA framework agreement on official food and feed controls requires every 
local authority to outline how it intends to fulfil its duties to deliver official food 
controls within the district. The Council has a duty to comply with the framework 
agreement.

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 The work plan is current delivered within existing resources. 

9. RISK AND MITIGATION 

9.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have 
been identified. 

Page - 22



10. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

10.1 Not considered applicable to this report.

11. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

11.1 Not considered applicable to this report.

12. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

12.1 The facilitation and delivery of the attached work plan can be met from budgetary 
resources allocated in the 2018/19 budget framework.  The focus of the delivery 
will also include cost recovery and the introduction of new discretionary charges 
where possible in order to embrace the commercial aspects of the new Corporate 
Strategy.

13. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

13.1 The Council is required under the FSA Framework Agreement and the HSE 
National Local Authority Enforcement Code to produce a work plan for food and 
health and safety enforcement.

13.2 Failure to provide and publish this document contravenes Health and Safety 
Executive and FSA requirements and would result in a breach of duty. 

13.3 The work plan is an essential performance management and review document 
and shows the commitment of the Council to food law and health and safety 
enforcement as required by legislation. 

14. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

14.1. None.

15. APPENDICES

15.1 Appendix 1 Draft Work Plan for Food and Health & Safety Enforcement 2018/19.

16. BACKGROUND PAPERS

16.1 None.

Page - 23



1
Page - 24



2

Contents
1.1 Service aims and objectives ....................................................................3
1.2 Links to corporate objectives and strategies .................................................3
1.3 Links to other Council functions ................................................................3
2. Review of 2017/2018 and estimated work for 2018/2019.....................................4
2.1 Food ................................................................................................4
2.2 Infectious Disease Investigation (ID) ..........................................................4
2.4 Private Water Supply Regulation (PWS)......................................................5
2.5 Enforcement during 2017/18 ...................................................................5
2.6 Performance indicators 2017/18 ...............................................................6
2.7 Variations from the 2017/18 Work Plan .......................................................6
3. Background ..........................................................................................8
3.1 Authority Profile...................................................................................8
3.2 Organisational Structure.........................................................................8
3.3 Scope of the Service .............................................................................9
3.4  Accessing the service ...........................................................................9
3.5 Enforcement policy .............................................................................10
4. Service Delivery ...................................................................................11
4.1 Programmed Work .............................................................................11
4.2 Non programmed work ........................................................................15
5. Resources ..........................................................................................18
5.1 Financial .........................................................................................18
5.2 Staffing allocation...............................................................................19
5.3 Staff training and development ...............................................................19
5.4 Quality assessment ............................................................................19
Appendix 1 Programmed food safety intervention work for 2018/2019 ....................20

Page - 25



3

1. Introduction

The purpose of the work plan is to set out how the Council delivers official controls and fulfils 
its duties under food safety, health and safety, public health and drinking water legislation.

It is based on the elements required by the Food Standards Agency Framework Agreement, 
but covers all areas work undertaken by the Environmental Health, Commercial Team.

1.1 Service aims and objectives

The food and health and safety functions make an important contribution towards making the 
district a healthy place to live, work and visit.

The work of the service:

 Supports the economy and business growth in South Kesteven
 Protects and enhances the local environment
 Ensures the effective control of risks to the safety, health and wellbeing of our residents 
 Ensures a proportionate, risk-based, targeted approach to enforcement while 

supporting businesses

1.2 Links to corporate objectives and strategies

As detailed in the Council’s Corporate Strategy 2018-2025, the core strategic goal is to 
achieve complete and sustainable financial autonomy by 2025 through commissioning 
services that are relevant to our community and valued by those who use them. 

This work plan supports the ambition to become a modern, agile and commercially competitive 
Council.  Providing additional chargeable services that support food businesses to start up, 
grow and achieve their potential, while continuing to deliver our core statutory functions in the 
efficient and effective way. 

1.3 Links to other Council functions

The work of the Commercial Team links with other services. Some key areas include:

Development Management and Planning Policy

Economic growth and the success of businesses is vital for our thriving district.  Working with 
new businesses in the early planning stages can help to avoid potential future problems.

Licensing 

The Council licences a wide range of premises for late night refreshment (serving hot food 
and drinks between 11pm and 5am). The Commercial team support this work, checking 
licenses during inspections and commenting on licence applications. 

Page - 26



4

2. Review of 2017/2018 and estimated work for 2018/2019

2.1 Food

PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2017/18

Actual 2017/18 Estimated
2018/19

High risk (Cat A-
C) 165 158 173

Medium risk (Cat 
D) 199 204 267Food 

interventions 
Low risk (E and 
outside) 146 147 226

High risk (Cat A-
C) N/A 3 0

Medium risk (Cat 
D) N/A 0 0Outstanding 

interventions 
Low risk (E and 
outside) 5 0

Food and environmental sampling 5 4 5
Export audit visits 6 7 0

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18

Estimated
2018/19

Food interventions 75 125 125
Revisits 110 90 100
Advice 40 55 60
Investigations 60 55 60
Business advice 125 124 125
Complaints 150 129 130
Other requests 215 186 190

General 

New registration 50 82 85
Enquiries 10 4 10
Re-score revisits 10 13 10
Appeal requests 1 1 1

Food hygiene 
rating scheme 
(FHRS)

Right to reply 1 0 1

2.2 Infectious Disease Investigation (ID)

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2017/18

Actual 2017/18 Estimated 
2018/19

Official notification 190 224 200
Unofficial notification 40 34 45
Investigations 50 36 40
Visits 5 0 5

Page - 27



5

2.3 Health and Safety

PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18

Estimated 
2018/19

High risk 
premises 1 1 1

Skin piercing 42 32 20H&S 
interventions Liquefied 

Petroleum Gas 
project

1 1 N/A

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18

Estimated 
2018/19

H&S  inspections 5 3 5
Revisits 10 12 10
Advice 5 6 5
Investigations 35 15 20
Complaints 25 20 25
Other requests 55 55 50

General

Smoke free 10 3 5
Enquiries 70 59 65
Complaints 5 1 5Skin Piercers
New skin piercing 
registrations 10 10 20

Reported 100 78 80
Investigated 
(No visit) 4 10Accidents

Investigated (Visit)
20

14 10

2.4 Private Water Supply Regulation (PWS)

Estimated 
2017/18

Actual     
2017/18

Estimated 
2018/19

PROGRAMMED WORK
Risk assessment visits 5 2 41
Sampling visits 20 15 26
NON-PROGRAMMED WORK
Service requests 35 23 25

2.5 Enforcement during 2017/18

Discipline Improvement Notice Voluntary 
Closure

Prohibition 
Notice

Simple 
Caution

Prosecution 
completed

Food 14 1 0 0 1
H&S 6 0 0 0 0
PWS 1 N/A 0 0 0

Page - 28



6

2.6 Performance indicators 2017/18

Ref No PI Description Target (%) Achieved (%)
OB09 Food premises that are broadly 

compliant (rated 3 or above in FHRS) 95 98.5

KOMD15 Planned high risk food safety 
interventions completed 99 95

KOMD16 Planned medium risk food safety 
interventions completed 95 100

SK641 Planned low risk food safety 
interventions completed 75 79.5

SK670 Premises inspected that improved 
FHRS rating or maintained a 5 rating 70 86.5

2.7 Variations from the 2017/18 Work Plan 

Staffing

Following the retirement of an environmental health officer, the full time equivalent (FTE) of 
the team reduced by 0.4.  The FSA’s ‘Regulating Our Future’ programme (expected by 2020) 
has the potential to introduce far-reaching changes to the food inspection regime. The impact 
of these changes on work streams is unknown at this stage but it is considered that it is not 
currently necessary to directly replace this post. 

The commercial team leader also retired, there was a two month period when this post was 
vacant prior to the new team leader taking up the post in August.  

The technical support for the team reduced from 1FTE to 0.6 FTE for period of 5 months due 
to a secondment.  During this period it was evident that this was insufficient and the post was 
subsequently backfilled.

Food Safety

One prosecution was undertaken during 2017/18, a further case was prepared but heard in 
2018/19.  These are resource intensive both in terms of ensuring the premises are improved 
and in bringing the cases to court. 

Prosecution
A public house with restaurant was successfully prosecuted following a serious mouse 
infestation which was found during a routine inspection. The business was fined £900 plus 
£90 surcharge.  The Council was awarded £5000 in costs.   

Out of date food
During a routine inspection, a small retail outlet was found to be offering for sale high risk food 
that had gone beyond its use by date. Despite having been served with a formal Hygiene 
Improvement Notice requiring robust stock rotation processes to be in place the issues 
continued. Following a customer complaint, further out of date food was found. This case was 
presented to the magistrate’s court in 2018/19. 

Page - 29



7

Voluntary Closure 
A village fish and chip shop closed its doors voluntarily after officers found unsatisfactory 
conditions and poor management of food safety. Officers have since worked with the business 
owner to bring about improvements.

Health and Safety

Breaches of food safety legislation were identified alongside potential matters of concern 
relating to compliance with health and safety during a routine food hygiene inspection a hotel.  
This is still under investigation.

Private Water Supply Regulation 

Due to the additional enforcement work undertaken during the year the risk assessment 
programme for private water supplies fell behind schedule.  Water sampling activity continued, 
ensuring that any issues or imminent risks were identified. Staff resource has been reallocated 
to ensure that the risk assessment review is progressed during 2018/19 with a view to this 
being on schedule by year end. 

Page - 30



8

3. Background

3.1 Authority Profile

South Kesteven is a mixed urban and rural economy with four main population centres at 
Grantham, Stamford, Bourne and Market Deeping.

As at the 2011 census the population was 133,788.  The overall population size is projected 
to increase to 151,000 by the year 2021, mainly through a net increase in international and 
internal migration as well as usual population growth.  Approximately 95% of the population is 
described as white ethnic. 

3.2 Organisational Structure

The Council consists of 56 Elected Members with a significant Conservative majority.  The 
Cabinet consists of 9 Members, with 1 Cabinet Member holding the portfolio for Environment, 
this includes food hygiene and health and safety. 

The Environmental Health Service is delivered as part of the Council’s Commercial and 
Operational directorate. 

Chief Executive

Strategic 
Director 

Commercial and 
Operational

 Assistant 
Director 

Commercial and 
Operational

Head of Street 
Scene 

Head of 
Environmental 

Team Leader 
Commercial

(1 FTE)

Environmental 
Health Officers

(1.8 FTE)

Food, Health & 
Safety Officers  

(2FTE)

Technical 
Support Officer 

(1 FTE)

Team Leader 
Private Sector 
Housing & Env. 

Protection

Team Leader 
Neighbourhoods

East Midlands 
Buildng Control

Strategic 
Director

Resources

Strategic 
Director 
Growth

Page - 31



9

3.3 Scope of the Service

The Commercial Team within Environmental Health Services provides a comprehensive 
service which includes food safety, health and safety enforcement, infectious disease 
investigation and the regulation of private water supplies. 

Provision is made for external specialist services laboratory services:

Provision Laboratory
Food Examiner Public Health England Food, Water and Environmental 

Microbiology Laboratory, York
Public Analyst Eurofins, Public Analyst Scientific Services, 

Wolverhampton
Private water supply testing ALS Environmental Ltd, Coventry

3.4  Accessing the Service

The Commercial Team is based at the Council Offices in Grantham.  Customers may also visit 
customer services at area offices in Bourne, Stamford and Market Deeping as detailed below.

Office Opening Times
Grantham
Address:
St Peters Hill
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6PZ

Monday, Tuesday and Thursday - 8.45 to 17.15

Wednesday - 8.45 to 16.00

Friday - 8.45 to 16.45

Stamford
Address:
1 Maiden Lane
Stamford
Lincolnshire
PE9 2AZ

Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday - 9.00 to 17.00

Thursday - 9.00 to 15.30

Friday - 9.00 to 16.30

Bourne
Address:
3 Abbey Road
Bourne
Lincolnshire
PE10 9EF              

Monday, Wednesday, Friday - 9.00 to 17.00

Tuesday, Thursday - 9.00 to 18.00

Saturday - 10.00 to 13.00

Market Deeping
Address:
Deepings Community Centre
Douglas Road
Market Deeping
Peterborough
PE6 8PA  

Monday to Friday - 9:30 to 14.00

Page - 32



10

Contact Details 

 Office hours 01476 40 60 80

 Out of hours emergencies 01476 59 00 44

 E-mail healthy@southkesteven.gov.uk

 Website www.southkesteven.gov.uk

3.5 Enforcement policy

The Council is committed to the Principles of Good Enforcement and the Regulators’ Code.  
Enforcement will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Enforcement and 
Environmental Services Enforcement Policies.   The policy was updated in February 2017 and 
is published on the Council’s website. 

Page - 33

mailto:healthy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


11

4. Service Delivery

4.1 Programmed Work

Food Hygiene

Whilst it is primarily the responsibility of the food business to control risks and identify food 
hazards, food premises inspections aim to establish whether food is being handled and 
produced hygienically, assess the effectiveness of controls and identify contraventions.    All 
programmed food safety interventions are undertaken in accordance with the Food Law Code 
of Practice.  

Food premises will be visited during normal trading hours, however, due to the nature of some 
businesses this may be outside of normal office hours.  Prior notice of inspections is not 
normally given, although exceptions may be made for some premises in order that key 
personnel may be available.  

A range of interventions may be utilised in accordance with the Code of Practice.  These can 
be either official or unofficial controls.

Official controls include:
 Inspections
 Monitoring
 Surveillance
 Verification
 Audits
 Sampling

Unofficial controls include:
 Education
 Advice
 Coaching
 Information and intelligence gathering

The Council participates in the national food hygiene rating scheme in accordance with the 
FSA Brand Standard and ratings are displayed on the FSA website.

Details of the programmed work for 2018/2019 are detailed in Appendix 1.  

Registered food businesses 
In accordance with EC Regulation 852/2004 all businesses that handle food must be 
registered with their local authority.  Premises in South Kesteven are categorised as follows:

Food Premises Type Number %
Primary producers 23 1.7
Manufacturers and packers 38 2.8
Importers and exporters 4 0.3
Distributors and transporters 44 3.2
Retailers 265 19.5
Restaurants and caterers 984 72.5

Total 1358

Page - 34



12

Food hygiene interventions
In accordance with the FSA Food Law Code of Practice, at each intervention, a score is given 
to each business to determine the frequency of interventions.  The intervention rating is based 
on assessment of a number of elements: type of food and processing; number and type of 
consumers potentially at risk; current compliance; risk of contamination; confidence in 
management.  Category A businesses pose the highest risk and are inspected more 
frequently, Category E establishments post the lowest risk and are subject to alternative 
interventions.  See Appendix 1 for further information. 

Businesses within the district are categorised as follows:

Risk Category Minimum Inspection Frequency Number %
A (High risk) At least every 6 months 1 0.07
B At least every 12 months 27 1.98
C At least every 18 months 206 15.17
D At least every 24 months 471 34.68
E Programme of alternative 

Interventions every 3 years 551 40.60

Outside 82 6.03
Not yet rated 20 1.47

Total 1358

Premises that achieve an average standard are deemed to be “broadly compliant” with food 
safety requirements.  In 2017/18, 98.5% of premises met this standard.

Food hygiene rating scheme (FHRS)
The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS) extends to businesses supplying food directly to 
consumers.  This includes restaurants, cafes, retailers and other places where people eat food 
outside of the home.   The overall aim of the scheme is to reduce the incidence of food borne 
illness and the associated costs of this to the economy.  From a local perspective, the scheme 
helps consumers to make informed choices about places they wish to eat or shop for food, 
and through this encourages businesses to improve hygiene standards.  Ratings are displayed 
on the Food Standards Agency website. 

In South Kesteven, 72% of food businesses are inside the scope of the scheme.   The rating 
depends on the overall level of compliance across three elements; food hygiene procedures, 
cleanliness and structural compliance and confidence in management.  There is currently a 
high level of compliance in the district, with 85.3% of food businesses reaching the maximum 
food hygiene rating of 5, achieving full compliance with food hygiene law.  

FHRS 
Rating

Description Number %

5 Very good 838 85.3
4 Good 100 10.2
3 Generally satisfactory 31 3.2
2 Improvement necessary 6 0.6
1 Major improvement necessary 5 0.5
0 Urgent improvement 

necessary
2 0.2

Total 982

Page - 35



13

Approved food premises
Certain food premises involved in the production, handling and storage of products of animal 
origin must be approved under EC Regulation 853/2004.  This legislation requires compliance 
with more detailed hygiene requirements than for registered premises.

Approved premises within the district are categorised as follows:

Food Premises Type Number
School caterers 6
Cold stores 5
Poultry manufacturer 1
Mechanically separated meat 
manufacturer 1

Biltong manufacturer 1
Total 14

Food sampling
Food sampling is an important element of food safety enforcement, providing information 
about the microbiological safety of food which is available within the district.

Sampling will be undertaken in accordance with relevant guidance and may be taken during 
a routine inspection, in response to a complaint or as part of a national sampling programme.  
All officers are expected to undertake a minimum of one sampling exercise per year to 
maintain competency.

Health and Safety

The Council is responsible for enforcing health and safety in approximately 2300 premises in 
the following categories:

 Hotels, campsites and short stay accommodation
 Residential care homes (in conjunction with the Care Quality Commission)
 Catering, restaurants and bars
 Leisure and cultural (e.g. cinemas, places of worship)
 Offices
 Retail shops
 Warehouses
 Consumer services (e.g. hairdressers, tattooists)

Inspections are carried out in accordance with the Health and Safety Executive’s circular LAC 
67/2 (Rev 7) and National Priority Plans.  In practice this comprises programmed inspections 
of the highest risk workplaces alongside targeted projects.  This is in addition to risk-based 
interventions in response to reported accidents, complaints, dangerous occurrences and 
work-related diseases.  Estimated work for 2018/19 is detailed in section 2.3.

Registered skin piercing establishments and piercers
All tattooists, body piercers and semi-permanent make up piercers have previously received 
an annual, unannounced inspection.  However, this is resource intensive and is no longer in 
accordance with circular LAC 67/2 (Rev 7) and National Priority Plans.  Having previously 
concentrated resource in this area, we are able to demonstrate that this sector is not a cause 
for concern in terms of compliance with the law. 

Page - 36



14

Skin piercing activities are registered as follows by premises and by individuals:

Premises Type Number %
Semi-permanent make-up 20 19.3
Cosmetic piercing 7 6.7
Electrolysis 12 11.5
Acupuncture 30 28.8
Ear piercing 21 20.2
Tattooist 14 13.4

Total skin piercing premises 
registrations* 104

*Some premises carry out more than one skin piercing activity

Individual Piercer Type Number %
Semi-permanent make-up artist 20 10
Cosmetic piercer 14 7
Electrolysis practitioner 27 13.5
Acupuncturist 49 24.5
Ear piercer 45 22.5
Tattooist 45 22.5

Total 200

Tattoo hygiene rating scheme 
Although tattooists must register as skin piercers, this voluntary scheme was introduced in 
2015 to help customers make informed choices about the premises they use for tattooing. 
Eight out of the fourteen registered tattoo studios have joined the scheme.  Ratings are 
displayed on the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health website.  

Rating Description Number
4 Good 7
3 Very satisfactory 1
2 Satisfactory 0
1 Needs improvement 0

Total 8

Private Water Supplies Regulation (PWS)

Private water supplies may come from a variety of sources, including wells, springs, boreholes 
and streams.  Samples of the water are taken and analysed by an accredited laboratory 
against a range of parameters to determine the wholesomeness. Supplies are risk assessed 
to determine contributory factors that may affect water safety such as the proximity of farm 
animals to the supply or type of treatment system.

Supply Type Number %
Single domestic 25 50
Multiple domestic 5 10
Commercial 20 40
Total Supplies 50

Page - 37



15

In addition to the minimum legal sampling requirements, sampling on request is also 
undertaken.   Charges are made in accordance with the fees in Private Water Supplies 
(England) Regulations 2016.

4.2 Non programmed work

Revisits

Following an inspection it may be necessary to carry out a re-visit after an appropriate time to 
check that matters have been attended to or check compliance with any enforcement notices.  
Reasons for re-visits include:

 The nature of the contravention is deemed so serious that if it was not addressed, 
formal action would need to be taken

 The number of minor contraventions is excessive and indicative of poor management 
and/or little confidence in the management addressing the matters

Complaints and service requests

We aim to respond to all complaints and requests for service as soon as possible, but in any 
case requests will be acknowledged within three working days.  Complainants will be advised 
of the outcome of all complaints. 

Anonymous complaints will not usually be investigated unless there is concern about the 
nature of the complaint and/or premises history.

Business owners/managers will be contacted about complaints relating to their premises 
and/or practices, usually by an unannounced visit.

Business advice

We acknowledge that most businesses want to comply with the law and the Commercial Team 
will provide advice and encourage best practice.  Free basic advice is provided to assist 
business in complying with the law.  

Starting in 2018, a package of support aimed at both new business start-ups and existing 
businesses who want improve their food hygiene rating will be introduced alongside the 
Council’s statutory functions.  This support will be chargeable on a cost recovery basis. A 
range of options will be available, including low cost downloadable documents on a range of 
popular topics relevant to a new business along with a bespoke product including a site visit 
and a range of set-up documents to help the business get off to a good start. More information 
is provided in 4.5 below.

Food safety incidents

Food safety alerts notify the public and food authorities of incidents concerning food which 
does not meet food safety or composition standards.  Alerts are received via the FSA alert 
system into the Commercial Team shared e-mail inbox which is monitored during office hours.  
Any alert marked “for action” is referred to the Team Leader to determine the most appropriate 
course of action.

Page - 38



16

Health and safety incidents

Health and safety accidents and complaints are investigated in accordance with the Incident 
Selection Criteria Guidance LAC 22/13 (Rev1).

Investigation of outbreaks and infectious diseases

The team work closely with colleagues at Public Health England to identify, control and prevent 
the spread of infectious diseases. 

Notifications of infectious disease are investigated using the East Midlands Public Health 
England Protection Team’s Response to Gastrointestinal and Legionnaires’ disease Matrix.

Complaints about suspected food poisoning are investigated in accordance with the infectious 
disease procedure for multiple cases and outbreaks.  

Primary/home/lead authority principle

South Kesteven does not have any Primary, Home or Lead authority arrangements with 
businesses at this time.

However, as required by the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 (as amended) 
and s.67 and 68 of The Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013, regard is given to the 
Primary Authority Principle when carrying out inspections, investigations and enforcement 
action for food safety and health and safety

Businesses with a Primary Authority partnership are identified on the Environmental Health 
premises database.

Liaison with Other Organisations

In addition to working with other teams within the Council, officers liaise with a number of 
other local authorities, agencies and organisations to facilitate consistent enforcement, share 
good practice and reduce duplication of effort.   These include:

 Lincolnshire Environmental Health Managers Group
 Lincolnshire Food Group
 Lincolnshire Health and Safety Group
 Kesteven Safety Advisory Group
 Food Standards Agency (East Midlands, Yorkshire and Humber Region)
 Health and Safety Executive (Nottingham Region)
 Public Health England

o East Midlands Health Protection Team
o Food Water and Environmental Laboratories York 
o Public Health Laboratory, Birmingham

 Lincolnshire County Council
o Trading Standards
o Fire and Rescue 
o Police
o Highways and Planning

 Drinking Water Inspectorate

Page - 39



17

 Anglian Water

Promotional activities 

Education and awareness is a key method of encouraging high standards in businesses 
across the district and informing the public. 

We support FSA media campaigns and Food Safety Week promoting messages through press 
releases, our website, social media and newsletters where resources allow. 

We continue to provide information to assist businesses to comply with legislation and ensure 
the Council’s website is maintained with relevant information.

Press releases are issued following successful prosecutions to act as a deterrent to others 
and inform the public. 

4.3  Looking forward 2018/19

Business Advice and Safer Food Better Business

The service is taking a commercial approach, making sure we utilise the expertise and 
knowledge to help generate income for the Council. Organisations such as the Health and 
Safety Executive and Trading Standards have been charging for advice to businesses; 
increasingly, local authorities are also charging for advice. It is intended that during this year 
we will introduce a range of paid for advice to our businesses starting with food safety and 
potentially progressing to other areas such as health and safety and management systems for 
private water supplies. 

Businesses will still be able to access free information on the Council’s website and basic 
advice to ensure they comply with the law. Alongside this, those who want to improve will be 
able to access ‘pocket guides’ which provide information on a range of topics relevant to food 
safety management via the Council’s website, or receive site visits and bespoke advice about 
the business premises layout and suitability as well as food safety management advice for a 
fee on a cost recovery basis.  It is intended that these services will be rolled out during summer 
2018.

Since 1 April 2018 we have offered printed versions of the FSAs Safer Food Better Business 
pack for a fee.  This document helps food businesses comply with the law and can be freely 
download this from the Food Standards Agency (FSA) website.  However, the length of the 
pack discourages many businesses from doing do so themselves. 

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme

The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme introduced several years ago by the FSA allows 
businesses to apply for a rescore if it has been scored less than 5 and they have made 
necessary improvements. Previously, the cost of a further inspection has been met by the 
local authority, however, the FSA has now allowed local authorities to charge for this 
inspection and from 1st April 2018 a charge has been made for this on a cost recovery basis. 

Page - 40



18

Healthy Eating

The Lincolnshire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy identifies tacking obesity as a priority for 
the Lincolnshire.   Alongside other Districts and Lincolnshire County Council Public Health we 
will consider developing a county-wide scheme to encourage food businesses to promote their 
healthy eating options, helping customers can make an informed choice about what products 
they want to buy.  This is in its infancy but once the proposed scheme has been determined it 
will be presented for Member consideration. 

Food Standards Agency 

Between now and 2020, the FSA plans to implement and deliver a new regulatory model for 
food through its ‘Regulating our Future’ programme.   The FSA aims to modernise the way 
food businesses are regulated, creating a system that is modern, risk-based, proportionate, 
robust and resilient.

It is understood that the programme of transformation is not intended to result in a reduction 
in local authority funding to deliver this key public protection activity.  Rather, the changes will 
over time lead to a different balance of activities at local authority level.  

Although not yet confirmed, it is expected that changes will be needed to accommodate data 
collection changes such as food business registration and new ways of working. The new 
regime is intended to come fully into effect from 2020 onwards, but some changes are likely 
to be introduced later this year. We will keep abreast of these changes by attending meetings 
arranged by the FSA and seek to implement changes in line with any proposed timetable.

5. Resources

5.1 Financial

The cost of providing the Commercial Service is detailed by area:

Discipline Actual 2017/2018 Budget 2018/2019
Food safety 211,775 209,994 
Health and Safety 110,388 100,453 
Water quality 29,010 28,628 
Infectious Diseases 36,195 36,994 

Total 387,367 376,069

The service is resourced sufficiently to operate in the absence of exceptional events or 
demands.  

Page - 41



19

5.2 Staffing allocation 

The staff allocation for 2018/19 is as follows:

Areas of Work
FTE Food H&S Infectious 

diseases
Drinking 
water

Team Leader 1    
1    Environmental Health 

Officers (EHO) 0.8    
1    Technical Officers 

(TO) 1    
Technical Support 
Officer (TSO)

1    

The Lead Officer function required by the Food Law Code of Practice is undertaken by the 
Commercial Team Leader.

EHOs hold the Bsc or Msc Environmental Health and are Authorised Officers, competent to 
carry out all levels of official and non-official controls and enforcement for food safety and 
undertake inspections of all approved food premises.

TOs hold the Higher Certificate in Food Premises Inspection and are Authorised Officers with 
restrictions relating to premises closure and seizure and detention of foodstuffs.   

The TSO acts as a Regulatory Support Officer, supporting the work of the Authorised Officers.

EHOs and TOs are competent to undertake the full range of health and safety enforcement 
activities and infectious disease investigation and enforcement.

5.3 Staff training and development

All officers are trained to a level commensurate with the work they undertake.  They receive 
an annual Personal Development Review and regular one to one meetings.  During this 
process consideration is given to Continual Professional Development (CPD) requirements 
for each area of work.

The Food Law Code of Practice requires that local authorities ensure that authorised officers 
receive relevant structured ongoing training.  The minimum requirement is 20 hours CPD per 
year, of which 10 hours must be on core food matters.  Training is provided through a number 
of methods including; short courses, in house training, cascade training, team meetings and 
self-learning.   

5.4 Quality assessment

The Team Leader undertakes random checks of post inspection risk scores and database 
entries, and where risk ratings have changed or FHRS scores have increased/decreased 
dramatically.  Officers are accompanied on selected visits and participate in consistency 
exercises.

A data cleansing exercise is undertaken annually to comply with the Data Protection Act 1988 
and the Council’s data retention policy as well as the General Data Protection Regulations.

Page - 42



Appendix 1 Programmed food safety intervention work for 2018/2019

Risk 
category

Intervention 
frequency
(months)

Minimum intervention 
permitted

OFFICIAL 
CONTROLS
Inspections

(High/medium 
risk)

ALTERNATIVE 
INTERVENTIONS

Enforcement 
interventions

(Low risk)

Comments

A 6 Official controls 1 N/A

B 12 Official controls 27 N/A

C 18 Official controls 145 N/A

High risk premises
Many of these businesses will be “broadly uncompliant” 
and require addition officer time to rectify.
May have intrinsic high risks associated with the type of 
food activity and/or poor compliance  

D 24
Alternates between official 

controls and alternative 
interventions 267

Medium risk premises
Premises that prepare, cook or handle open high risk food 
or manufacture or re-wrap high risk foods will be visited 
each time.   All others receive alternate interventions

E 36 Alternative interventions 100 101

Low risk premises
Premises that are low or minimal risk. Selling low risk food 
or not handling open food.  Business with significant 
changes or subject to complaints will be visited

Outside 36 Alternative interventions N/A 25

Not yet rated
Within 28 
days of 

registration
Official controls 16

Initial inspections of new food establishments which 
should normally take place within 28 days of registration or 
from aware in operation (as at 31 March 2018)

Outstanding 
Inspections 

from 
2017/2018

Official controls and/or 
alternative interventions 
dependent on business 

type

3 risk category C
5 risk category E

Outstanding inspections from 2017/18 prioritised for 
2018/19

P
age - 43



P
age - 44



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2018/19
DRAFT Work Programme

Current Issues/Status Activities and Timetable Outcome sought
Work Plan for Food 
and Health & Safety 
Enforcement  2018/19

Local authorities are required 
to produce a publicly 
available plan which sets out 
how and at what level official 
food controls will be 
provided, in accordance with 
codes of practice.   

Health and safety 
enforcement plans are also 
combined with this reporting 
and resource planning 
process.

Report containing draft work 
plan for consideration. 

June  20 Recommendation for 
approval with or without 
changes to Cabinet 
Member for Environment

Grounds Maintenance 
Service – Delivery 
Model Review

The Grounds Maintenance 
Service is currently provided 
through a contract with 
Glendale Grounds 
Management Limited 
(Glendale) which expires 
February 2019.

The Council has the 
opportunity to review and 
consider the options 
available in how it provides 
the service in the future.

Report outlining the key 
options and evaluation 
framework to support debate 

June 20 Recommendation on 
preferred delivery option for 
Cabinet Member for 
Environment to consider

Lincolnshire Joint 
Municipal Waste 
Strategy

Work has commenced on 
reviewing Municipal Waste 
Strategy through the 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership. This will set out 
how Lincolnshire manages 
the waste produced over the 
next 10 years.  

Member workshop on the draft 
Strategy 

June A position where the District 
Council can support the 
overall Lincolnshire 
Strategy and its role within 
it.P

age - 45

A
genda Item

 9



Grounds Maintenance  
-  Service Specification 

The current contract provides 
for a wide range of grounds 
maintenance and service 
activities. 

A review is required to enable 
Members to reflect on the 
specification and identify need 
for any changes. 

Report outlining  the current  
service level being delivered 
and options for  change 

September Recommendations for new 
grounds maintenance 
service requirements

Food Waste Pilot 
Update 

Update on the separate 
collection of food waste 
currently being piloted by the 
Council

September
/January/
March

Member information on the 
pilot scheme

Review of the 
Council’s CCTV 
service 

Review of the key features of 
the service including its 
scope, resources and 
opportunities to improve cost 
effectiveness

Tour of facilities 

Report 

June

September
/November

Identify potential 
opportunities to maintain or  
improve service delivery 

Air quality Action Plan 
update 

Review of progress against 
actions and any necessary 
update

Report on progress with 
implementation of the Air 
quality action plan

January 
/March

Provide Members with 
information and identify any 
new actions

Electric Vehicle 
Charging Points 

Review of proposals for the 
installation of charging 
facilities for electric vehicles

Report for consideration September 
/November

Cycling To be scoped November/
January 

Biodiversity To be scoped November/
January 

P
age - 46



Public Space 
Protection Orders

A range of orders are  in 
operation across the district 
as a result of transitional 
arrangements put in place by 
the Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014

Report   reviewing the 
effectiveness of the controls in 
place across the district.

March Identification of the need for 
any amendments to the 
existing framework in place 
to address anti-social 
behaviours

P
age - 47


	Agenda
	5 Action Notes from the meeting held on 24th April 2018
	7 Grounds Maintenance Service - Delivery Model Review
	Option appraisal 6 June 2018Gold2

	8 Work Plan for Food and Health & Safety Enforcement  2018/19
	Appendix 1

	9 Draft Work Programme

